A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred by ruling evidence found on Christopher 

Smith after an unconstitutional stop was admissible. 

2. The trial court erred by concluding the deputy had a valid 

basis to stop Mr. Smith because he was looking into parked cars as he 

rode by them on his bicycle. Conclusion of Law A-2. 

3. The trial court erred by concluding the deputy validly 

stopped Mr. Smith for violating the King County Board of Health 

regulation requiring bicycle helmets. Conclusion of Law A_I.! 

4. The stop of Mr. Smith for violating the King County Board 

of Health regulation requiring bicycle helmets was pretextual. 

Conclusion of Law A-I. 

5. The trial court erred by concluding the stop ofMr. Smith was 

not a pretext. RP 149-51. 

6. The trial court erred by granting the State's motion to 

exclude evidence in support of a necessity defense.2 

7. Appellant assigns error to Conclusions of Law 1-3 in support 

of the order excluding evidence of the necessity defense. 

I A copy of the Written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on CrR 3.6 
Motion to Suppress Evidence and on CrR 3.5 Motion Regarding Admissibility of 
Defendant's Statements, CP 87-93, is attached to this brief as Appendix A. 

2 A copy of the court's Findings, Conclusions and Order Re Necessity Defense, 
CP 94-96, is attached as Appendix B. 
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B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution protects 

citizens from warrantless seizures and those used as a pretext to avoid 

the warrant requirement. The trial court determined the deputy's stop 

of Mr. Smith was constitutional based upon the officer's observation 

that (1) Mr. Smith was looking into parked cars near an area where 

vehicle prowling had been reported earlier and (2) was riding a bicycle 

without a helmet. 

a. A person riding a bicycle should check parked cars 

for drivers and passengers to avoid running into an opening car door. 

Did the officer's observation that Mr. Smith was looking into parked 

cars as he rode his bicycle combined with the officer's knowledge that 

vehicle prowling had been reported nearby in the past provide the 

specific, objective facts to support a reasonable suspicion that Mr. 

Smith had committed or was about to commit a crime? 

b. The City of Shoreline has no law prohibiting people 

from riding bicycles without a helmet, and the King County 

Department of Health Code requires helmets only on street and bicycle 

paths in King County and the City of Seattle. Where Mr. Smith was 

riding his bicycle on the sidewalk in the City of Shoreline, did the 
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deputy have a valid reason to stop him for violating the county bicycle 

regulations? 

c. In determining if a law enforcement officer's stop of a 

vehicle for a traffic infraction was a pretext to investigate other 

criminal activity, the court must look at the totality of the 

circumstances to determine the officer's subjective intent and the 

objective reasonableness of his actions. The trial court decided the 

sheriffs deputy's decision to stop Mr. Smith was not a pretext stop 

because the officer had sufficient facts to justify stopping Mr. Smith for 

car prowling. RP 150-51. The court did not, however, find the officer 

would have stopped Mr. Smith for the bicycle helmet infraction absent 

those suspicions. Does a de novo review of the totality of the 

circumstances demonstrate the deputy used the helmet infraction as a 

pretext to investigate the deputy's suspicions of other criminal activity? 

2. The defendant has the constitutional right to present a 

defense. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 7. Mr. Smith 

had a prior serious felony conviction and was not permitted to possess a 

firearm, but even a convicted felon may possess a firearm when 

necessary to protect himself or another person. Must Mr. Smith's 

conviction for unlawful possession of a weapon in the first degree be 
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reversed and remanded for a new trial court excluded evidence in 

support of a necessity defense? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Christopher Smith's fifteen-year-old son Kenneth left their 

Shoreline horne without telling any family members where he was 

going after an argument on the evening of September 13,2011. RP 16, 

152-53, 156. A few weeks earlier, Kenneth had an encounter with 

other young men at a neighborhood park and a boy pulled a knife on 

Kenneth. RP 153-54. When Kenneth backed off, the boy called his 

father and Kenneth heard the father say he was corning to the park with 

a gun. RP 154. Kenneth returned horne and told his father and mother 

about the incident. RP 155. After the incident, he rarely left his house 

unless going to school. RP 160. 

Mr. Smith was concerned for his son's safety and went looking 

for his son on a bicycle. RP 59, 86-87, 161. King County Sheriffs 

Deputy Benjamin Callahan was working as a law enforcement officer 

for the City of Shoreline when he saw Mr. Smith on a bicycle on 5th 

Avenue Northeast. RP 11-12, 16, 17-18. He initially noticed that Mr. 

Smith was not wearing a bicycle helmet. RP 17-18. He continued to 

watch Mr. Smith and believed Mr. Smith was riding between parked 
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cars and looking into them. RP 18. Deputy Callahan said he had 

recently taken reports of auto-prowling incidents within about five 

blocks of the area where Mr. Smith was riding. RP 20-21. The deputy 

also noted that Mr. Smith looked surprised when he drove past in his 

patrol car. RP 15,22. Deputy Callahan pulled over to the side of the 

road and tried to talk to Mr. Smith, but Mr. Smith continued riding. RP 

24-25. 

Believing Mr. Smith was intentionally avoiding him, Deputy 

Callahan decided to stop Mr. Smith, turned on the patrol car's lights, 

and made a u-turn to approach Mr. Smith. RP 26. Mr. Smith did not 

stop when the deputy yelled, "stop, police" and rode his bicycle across 

a lawn and into his own driveway. RP 28-32. Deputy Callahan 

followed, took Mr. Smith off the bicycle, and arrested him for 

obstructing a police officer. RP 33-34. The officer located a revolver 

in the fanny pack Mr. Smith was wearing. RP 36-38. 

Mr. Smith told the officer he was looking for his son. RP 59. 

He admitted he was not supposed to have a firearm because of felony 

convictions, but explained the streets were dangerous and he needed the 

gun to protect his family. RP 43-44, 48. Mr. Smith also related that his 
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niece had been the victim of a rape and was being intimidated by the 

perpetrator. RP 46. 

The King County Prosecutor charged Mr. Smith with unlawful 

possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 1. Mr. Smith moved to 

suppress the firearm arguing that the stop was unconstitutional. CP 29-

40. The State sought to introduce Mr. Smith's custodial statements at 

trial. RP 4. The court held a hearing addressing both motions at which 

Deputy Callahan, Mr. Smith's girlfriend Melissa Kennedy, and Mr. 

Smith testified. RP 11-129. The court denied Mr. Smith's motion to 

suppress the revolver, finding Deputy Callahan had a reasonable and 

articulable suspicion to justify stopping Mr. Smith based upon "the 

combination" of his observations that Mr. Smith was not wearing a 

bicycle helmet, he was "looking into cars," and his knowledge of recent 

car prowls not that far away. RP 128. The court added it was not a 

pretext stop. RP 149-51. The court also admitted the statements Mr. 

Smith made after the officer read the Miranda warnings. RP 126. 

The State then moved to prevent Mr. Smith from presenting 

evidence of a necessity defense at trial. RP 129; SuppCP _ (State's 

Trial Memo at pages 16-18) (sub. no. 67,2/23/12). The parties agreed 

to address the issue in a pretrial offer of proof at which Kenneth 
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testified about the incident in the park. RP 145-48, 151-61. The court 

ruled that Mr. Smith had not met the requirement that Kenneth faced 

the threat of immediate harm and therefore could not present the 

defense of necessity. CP 94-96; RP 163-66; 

Based upon the court's ruling, Mr. Smith waived his right to a 

jury trial and stipulated that the court could determine the case based 

upon stipulated evidence, including the police reports and Mr. Smith's 

agreement that he had a prior conviction for a "serious offense" as 

defined at RCW 9.41.010. CP 51-68; RP 167-81, 185; Exs. 1-4. The 

court found Mr. Smith guilty of possession of a firearm. 3 RP 185-86. 

The court rejected Mr. Smith's request for an exceptional 

sentence below the standard range but, in light of Mr. Smith's failed 

defense of necessity, sentenced him to 87 months in prison, the low end 

of the standard sentence range. CP 80, 82; RP 214-15. This appeal 

follows. CP 97-98. 

3 No written findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of a guilty 
finding were entered. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

1. Mr. Smith's conviction must be reversed because the court 
improperly admitted evidence obtained as a result of an 
unconstitutional detention 

The trial court upheld Deputy Callahan's stop of Mr. Smith, 

finding the deputy had two reasons for the stop: (1) to issue a civil 

infraction for not wearing a bicycle helmet and (2) because Mr. Smith 

appeared to be peering into cars near an area with past vehicle prowling 

complaints. Conclusions of Law A-I, 2. The officer, however, lacked 

the reasonable suspicion based upon articulable facts necessary to 

support an investigative stop because a cautious bicycle rider looks 

carefully at all vehicle traffic, including parked cars, in order to avoid 

an accident. In addition, the City of Shoreline does not have a bicycle 

helmet law, and the King County bicycle helmet regulation does not 

cover the City of Shoreline or bicyclists riding on a sidewalk. The 

officer therefore lacked authority to issue a citation. Moreover, the 

civil infraction was a pretext because the officer actually stopped Mr. 

Smith to investigate the hunch that he was involved in vehicle 

prowling. Mr. Smith' s motion to suppress the firearm obtained as a 

result of the unconstitutional stop should have been granted, and this 

Court should reverse his conviction. 
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a. Article 1, section 7 protects the right to privacy from 

government intrusion. The federal and state constitutions prohibit the 

government from detaining or searching an individual without a 

warrant or probable cause. U.S. Const. amends. IV, XIV; Const. art. 1 

§ 7. Article I, section 7 succinctly provides, "No person shall be 

disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority 

of law." 4 

The protections of article I, section 7 are "qualitatively 

different" than those of the Fourth Amendment. State v. Snapp, 174 

Wn.2d 177, 187,275 P.3d 289 (2012). It is well-settled that the 

Washington Constitution provides greater protection against 

warrantless seizures than the federal constitution. State v. Setterstrom, 

163 Wn.2d 621,626,183 P.3d 1075 (2008); State v. Gatewood, 163 

Wn.2d 534,539, 182 P.3d 426 (2008); see State v. Parker, l39 Wn.2d 

486,493, 987 P.2d 73 (1999) (state constitution "clearly recognizes an 

individual's right to privacy with no express limitations") (quoting 

4 The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution reads: 
The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and 

effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no 
Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or 
affirmation" and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the 
persons or things to be seized. 

Article 1, § 7 of the Washington Constitution provides: 
No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without 

authority of law. 
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State v. White, 97 Wn.2d 92, 110,640 P.2d 1061 (1982)). No Gunwall 

analysis is necessary before the appellate court will consider an article 

I, section 7 claim.s State v. Jackson, 150 Wn.2d 251, 259, 76 P.3d 217 

(2003). 

b. The stop was unconstitutional because the deputy did not 

have the information necessary to support an investigative stop. 

Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable. State v. Ladson, 138 

Wn.2d 343,349,979 P.2d 833 (1999). The State has the burden of 

proving one of the narrowly-drawn exceptions to the warrant 

requirement applies. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d at 349-50. The warrant 

requirement is especially important for an article I, section 7 analysis 

because "it is the warrant that provides the 'authority oflaw'" 

referenced in the constitution. Id. at 350. 

One exception to the warrant requirement is an investigative 

stop. Gatewood, 163 Wn.2d at 539; Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 16-19, 

88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). A police officer may briefly 

detain a citizen if the officer has "a reasonable, articulable suspicion, 

based upon specific, objective facts, that the person seized has 

committed or is about to commit a crime." Greenwood, 163 Wn.2d at 

5 State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986). 
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539 (emphasis in original) (quoting State v. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 166, 

172,43 P.3d 513 (2002)). The officers' actions must be justified "at 

their inception." Id.; Ladson, 138 Wn.2d at 350. The State has the 

burden of demonstrating the legality of a warrantless investigative stop. 

Gatewood, 163 Wn.2d at 539. 

The trial court found that Deputy Callahan had a reasonable 

suspicion that Mr. Smith was involved in the crime of vehicle prowling 

because Mr. Smith was peering into cars as he rode his bicycle down 

the street. Conclusion of Law A-I. This was based upon Mr. Smith's 

actions and the officer's knowledge of recent "car prowls" in the area. 

Findings as to Disputed Facts 2-5. 

The court held that peering into car windows was "consistent 

with car prowling." Finding as to Disputed Facts 4. A ThrrY stop, 

however, may not be based upon innocuous conduct. The fact that Mr. 

Smith was in a crime area, for example, does not justify a ThrrY stop. 

State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57,62,239 P.3d 573 (2010); State v. 

Martinez, 135 Wn. App. 174, 180, 143 P.2d 855 (2006). 

Nor do "innocuous facts" support an investigative stop. State v. 

Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 13-14,948 P.2d 1280 (1997); Martinez, 135 

Wn. App. at 180. Bicycle riders are wise to be aware of any nearby 
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motor vehicles in order to protect themselves. This is even true of 

parked cars, as a driver or passenger may open a car door without 

checking for bicycle riders, resulting in a possibly fatal accident.6 The 

best way to prevent being "doored" is "a continued eye scanning and 

seeking on the part of the biker to see if there are people in the 

upcoming parked cars, and to give enough room in case a door does 

swing open to avoid getting clipped." 

http://www.colbachlaw.com/portland bicycle lawyers.html (last 

viewed 12/3/12).7 

An investigatory stop similar to the one here was found to 

violate article I, section 7 in Martinez because it was not based upon 

particularized suspicion of criminal activity by the defendant. 

Martinez, 135 Wn. App. at 181-82. A Richland police officer stopped 

Martinez in a "high crime neighborhood" where several vehicle prowls 

has been reported. Id. at 177. According to the officer, Martinez 

looked around nervously as he walked briskly away from a shadowy 

area where several cars were parked. Id. The officer asked Martinez 

6 http://en.wikipedia.org/wikiJDoor zone (3% offatal bicycle accidents in New 
York City between 1996 and 2005 occurred when bicyclist struck open car door or 
swerved to avoid the door) (last viewed 12/3/12); see ~ 
http://gorthamist.coml2012/06/cyclist fatality doored in queens no.phph (bicyclist 
killed after riding into car door) (last viewed 12/3/12). 

7 Accord http://bicycling.comltraining-nutricianlinjury-preventionldoored (last 
viewed 12/3/12). 
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whether he lived in the neighboring apartments and stopped Martinez 

when he said he did not. Id. at 177-78. During a pat-down search for 

weapons, the officer discovered a container containing 

methamphetamine. Id. at 178. 

The Court of Appeals found that the totality of the 

circumstances did not justify the investigative stop. Martinez, 135 Wn. 

App. at 181-82. The court noted that vehicle prowls had been reported 

at the apartment complex in the past, but not on the night when 

Martinez was stopped. Id. at 180. Because the State must demonstrate 

"some suspicion of a particular crime or a particular person, and some 

connection between the two," the court concluded the officer's 

"generalized suspicions that Mr. Martinez may have been up to no 

good" did not support the stop. Id. at 182. 

Also instructive is the Washington Supreme Court's opinion in 

Doughty. Police officers observed Doughty approach a house at 3:20 

a.m., remain inside for about two minutes, and then drive away. 

Doughty, 170 Wn.2d at 59-60. The police were aware of complaints 

from neighbors about the large amount of "short stay traffic" at the 

house, and they stopped Doughty because they suspected he was 

involved in drug activity. Id. After checking Doughty's records, the 
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officer arrested him for driving with a suspended operator's license, 

searched his car, and found methamphetamine. Id. at 60. The Supreme 

Court held the investigatory stop was unconstitutional, as the totality of 

the circumstances known to the police did not provide a reasonable 

suspicion he was involved in criminal activity. Id. at 65. "The Thrry

stop threshold was created to stop police from this very brand of 

interference with people's everyday lives." Id. at 64. 

The facts of Mr. Smith's case similarly do not provide the 

reasonable suspicion that he was engaged in criminal activity. Mr. 

Smith was riding a bicycle on a sidewalk near his home.8 Deputy 

Callahan knew of reports of vehicle prowls in the area in the past, but 

not that evening. See Martinez, 135 Wn. App. at 180 (vehicle prowls 

had been reported in the area, but not that evening). The fact that Mr. 

Smith appeared to be looking into parked cars as he drove down the 

sidewalk is innocuous. Id. at 180-81 (walking through a dark parking 

lot innocuous). Deputy Callahan lacked the particularized suspicion 

that Mr. Smith was engaged in criminal activity necessary to justify an 

investigatory stop. 

8 It is legal to ride a bicycle on the sidewalk in a residential area. WAC 308-
330-555. 
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Since Deputy Callahan's stop of Mr. Smith was unlawful, "the 

subsequent search and fruits of that search are inadmissible." 

Gatewood, 163 Wn.2d at 542 (quoting State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 

4, 726 P.2d 455 (1986)). The firearm found on Mr. Smith when he was 

arrested must be suppressed and his conviction for unlawful possession 

of a firearm reversed and dismissed. Id. 

c. The stop was unconstitutional because the deputy lacked 

authority to issue a civil infraction for not wearing a bicycle helmet and 

the civil infraction was a pretext to investigate unrelated criminal 

activity. The trial court also found the deputy's stop of Mr. Smith was 

justified because Mr. Smith was not wearing a bicycle helmet. Finding 

as to Undisputed Fact 6; Conclusion of Law A-I. The City of 

Shoreline, however, does not have a bicycle helmet law. Moreover, 

looking at the officer's subjective motive and objective actions, the 

investigative stop was a pretext to search for evidence of other criminal 

activity. The firearm found on Mr. Smith as a result of the 

unconstitutional detention should have been suppressed. 

i. Deputy Callahan did not have authority to issue a 

citation for a King County helmet violation in the City of Shoreline. 

The King County Health Board bicycle helmet regulations require 
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anyone riding a bicycle "on a public roadway, bicycle path or on any 

right-of-way or publicly owned facilities located in King County 

including Seattle" to wear a bicycle helmet. Code of the King County 

Health Board §§ 9.01.020(A), 9.10.010(A) (hereafter Health Board 

Code). Violation of this regulation is a civil infraction punishable by a 

fine that may not exceed $30.00. Health Board Code § 9.15.010(A), 

(C) (2003). 

By its language, however, this code applies only to public 

roadways in King County and City of Seattle, not the City of Shoreline. 

Heal th Board Code § 9.10.01 O(A). When a statute lists only one city, it 

is impliedly excluding others. See State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 

729,63 P.3d 792 (2003) (statutes construed pursuant to the rule 

"expression unius est exclusion alterus"). 

In addition, code language does not include people riding on 

sidewalks. Health Board Code § 9.10.010(A). In Washington, a 

"roadway" does not include a sidewalk. RCW 46.04.500 (defining 

"roadway" as the portion of a highway designed or used for vehicular 

traffic "exclusive of the sidewalk or shoulder even though such 

sidewalk or shoulder is used by persons riding bicycles." 
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Shoreline has its own municipal code with regulations 

governing health, traffic, and sidewalks. Shoreline Municipal Code 

Titles 8, 10, 12. No Shoreline law or regulation makes it illegal to ride 

a bicycle without a bicycle helmet in that city. 

Thus, it is legal to ride a bicycle on the sidewalk without a 

helmet in King County and to ride a bicycle without a helmet anywhere

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