68709.3

NO. 68709-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CHRISTOPHER SMITH,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. TRICKEY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE DISCOVERED FOLLOWING A LAWFUL <u>TERRY</u>³ STOP.

Smith contends that Deputy Callahan lacked sufficient basis to stop him, so the firearm discovered subsequent to his arrest should have been suppressed. He argues that his conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm should therefore be reversed and dismissed. Because the record firmly establishes that Callahan had a reasonable and articulable suspicion that Smith was involved in criminal activity, the claim must be rejected.

In reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, the appellate court determines whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings, and whether those findings support its conclusions of law. <u>State v. Ross</u>, 106 Wn. App. 876, 880, 26 P.3d 298 (2001). Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. <u>Id.</u> Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. <u>Id.</u>

Brief investigatory "<u>Terry</u>" stops are well-established exceptions to the general rule that warrantless seizures are unconstitutional. <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 30-31, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); <u>State v. Gatewood</u>, 163 Wn.2d 534, 539,

³ <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 30-31, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968).

182 P.3d 426 (2008). A Terry stop is justified when an officer has specific and articulable facts that give rise to a reasonable suspicion that the person stopped is, or is about to be, engaged in criminal activity. State v. Kinzy, 141 Wn.2d 373, 384-85, 5 P.3d 668 (2000). A reasonable suspicion is the "substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur." State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). "The reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the inception of the stop." State v. Rowe, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 822 P.2d 290 (1991), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Bailey, 109 Wn. App. 1, 3, 34 P.3d 239 (2000). The totality of the circumstances includes factors such as the officer's training and experience, the location of the stop, the conduct of the person detained, the purpose of the stop, the amount of physical intrusion upon the suspect's liberty, and the length of time the suspect is detained. State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003).

The unchallenged findings establish that Smith was peering into the windows of parked cars as he rode his bike along the sidewalk. CP 91. Deputy Callahan knew of a recent rash of car prowls in the immediate area, and had recently taken "a couple of auto-prowling reports within five blocks of that location." RP 20-21; CP 91. The trial court found that Callahan reasonably concluded that Smith's conduct was consistent with car prowling. <u>Id.</u>

Additionally, Deputy Callahan testified that his initial suspicion was heightened by Smith's reaction when he noticed the officer: Smith looked surprised, nearly lost his balance, and started riding in the opposite direction. RP 22-23. And when the officer attempted a casual contact, Smith avoided eye contact and pedaled on. RP 24-25.

Smith relies on <u>State v. Martinez</u>, 135 Wn. App. 174, 180, 143 P.3d 855 (2006), to argue that innocuous facts do not justify an investigatory stop. In <u>Martinez</u>, a Richland police officer was patrolling the grounds of an apartment complex in a high-crime neighborhood where several vehicle prowls had been reported. <u>Id.</u> at 177. The officer saw Martinez walking briskly and looking around nervously near several parked cars. <u>Id.</u> The officer asked Martinez if he lived in the apartment complex; he did not. <u>Id.</u> at 177-78. During a pat-down for weapons, the officer discovered a container of methamphetamine. <u>Id.</u> Martinez was arrested and charged with possession of methamphetamine. <u>Id.</u>

- 10 -

1301-18 Smith COA

On appeal, Martinez successfully argued that the officer lacked particularized suspicion to stop him. <u>Id.</u> The appellate court concluded that the officer had no information linking Martinez to any crime. <u>Id.</u> at 181-82. The court observed that "there must be some suspicion of a particular crime or a particular person, and some connection between the two." <u>Id.</u> at 182. The officer's general suspicion that Martinez may have been "up to no good" was not enough to warrant a stop. <u>Id.</u>

If Deputy Callahan had stopped Smith simply for being in a high-crime area and looking nervous, <u>Martinez</u> would support his argument. But Callahan actually observed Smith peering into car windows, activity consistent with car prowling. Thus, unlike the officer in <u>Martinez</u>, Deputy Callahan had particularized suspicion connecting Smith to the crime that Callahan stopped him to investigate.

Smith's reliance on <u>State v. Doughty</u>, 170 Wn.2d 57, 239 P.3d 573 (2010), is similarly misplaced. There, officers were watching a suspected drug house and observed Doughty make a brief, late-night visit to the house. <u>Id.</u> at 59. The majority held that a defendant's mere presence in a high-crime area, late at night, did not provide a legal basis for a <u>Terry</u> stop. <u>Id.</u> at 62, 64. But Deputy

- 11 -

Callahan did not stop Smith based on such limited facts. His observation of conduct consistent with car prowling, together with his knowledge of many car prowls in the same area, gave him the particularized suspicion the officers lacked in <u>Doughty</u>.

Smith nevertheless argues that peering into car windows is innocuous behavior that does not warrant an investigatory stop. He contends that bicyclists must look into parked cars to avoid collisions in case occupants suddenly open doors. As a preliminary matter, the Court should note that this argument is inconsistent with Smith's testimony that he was riding on the sidewalk and that there were no cars parked on the side of the street except those directly in front of his home. RP 90-91. Further, even if Smith's conduct was wholly innocent, that does not render the stop unlawful. "When the activity is consistent with criminal activity, although also consistent with noncriminal activity, it may justify a brief detention." Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 6.

While an inchoate hunch is insufficient to justify a stop, circumstances which appear innocuous to the average person may appear incriminating to a police officer in light of past experience. The officer is not required to ignore that experience. ... Further, reasonableness is measured not by exactitudes, but by probabilities.

<u>State v. Samsel</u>, 39 Wn. App. 564, 570-71, 694 P.2d 670 (1985). <u>See also Martinez</u>, 135 Wn. App. at 180 (an officer may rely on experience in evaluating arguably innocuous facts).

<u>Terry</u> itself is instructive. There, a Cleveland patrol officer noticed Terry and another man walk by some stores, pause to look in the windows, and briefly confer. 392 U.S. at 5-6. The men repeated this "ritual" nearly a dozen times. <u>Id.</u> at 6. The officer became suspicious that the men were planning a robbery. <u>Id.</u> The officer approached them, identified himself as a police officer, and asked for their names. <u>Id.</u> at 6-7. After Terry mumbled something in response, the officer patted him down and found a gun in his pocket. <u>Id.</u>

As in this case, the officer in <u>Terry</u> observed behavior that might have been innocuous. <u>Id.</u> at 22-23. Nevertheless, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the officer's observations and substantial experience justified the brief detention. <u>Id.</u> at 23. Indeed, the Court concluded it would have been "poor police work" to have failed to investigate further. <u>Id.</u>

In this case, Deputy Callahan was a patrol officer with knowledge of a recent rash of car prowls in the immediate vicinity. While Smith *could* have been looking into car windows with bicycle

- 13 -

safety in mind, Callahan was not required to disregard the fact that the same conduct was consistent with car prowling.

The totality of the circumstances gave rise to a reasonable and articulable suspicion that Smith was involved in criminal activity. An investigatory stop was justified, and the trial court properly determined that the subsequently discovered evidence was admissible.

2. DEPUTY CALLAHAN HAD AUTHORITY TO STOP SMITH FOR BICYCLE-RELATED TRAFFIC INFRACTIONS.

It is undisputed that Smith was riding a bike without a helmet when he was stopped by Deputy Callahan. The Court concluded this was a violation of the King County Code provision that requires all bicyclists in King County to wear helmets, and thus a valid basis to stop Smith. CP 91. For the first time on appeal, Smith contends that this provision does not apply in the City of Shoreline. Because Smith misinterprets the Code, the Court should reject his argument.⁴

.

⁴ If the Court agrees that the stop is separately justified for investigation of car prowling, it need not reach this question.

The King County Board of Health Code § 9.10.010 provides, in relevant part, as follows:

Any person operating or riding on a bicycle not powered by motor on a public roadway, bicycle path or on any right-of-way or publicly owned facilities located in King County including Seattle, shall wear a protective helmet designed for bicycle safety.

Smith argues that the language "including Seattle" indicates the provision does not apply to Shoreline, or to any other city in King County, under the doctrine of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*.⁵ This maxim holds that, "[w]here a statute specifically designates the things or classes of things upon which it operates, an inference arises in law that all things or classes of things omitted from it were intentionally omitted by the legislature." <u>State v.</u> <u>Swanson</u>, 116 Wn. App. 67, 75, 65 P.3d 343 (2003) (quoting <u>Wash</u>. <u>Natural Gas Co. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1</u>, 77 Wn.2d 94, 98, 459 P.2d 633 (1969)). It "is to be used only as a means of ascertaining the legislative intent where it is doubtful, and not as a means of defeating the apparent intent of the legislature." <u>State v. Williams</u>,

⁵ Smith cites <u>State v. Delgado</u>, 148 Wn.2d 723, 729, 63 P.3d 792 (2003), for this proposition. <u>Delgado</u> has to do with the "two strikes" law for sexual offenders. That statute specified the offenses that constituted strikes and did not provide for others to count based upon comparability to enumerated offenses, unlike the "three strikes" law. 148 Wn.2d at 728-29. The Court used the *expressio unius* doctrine to infer that the legislature, which had provided for comparability in one statute, did not intend to so provide in the statute that omitted that language. <u>Id.</u> Delgado is unhelpful to this analysis.

94 Wn.2d 531, 537, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980) (quoting <u>DeGrief v.</u> <u>Seattle</u>, 50 Wn.2d 1, 12, 297 P.2d 940 (1956)).

The intent of the King County Board of Health to apply the helmet law broadly is clear from its findings. The Board recites statistics of bicycle-related deaths and hospitalizations "in King County, including Seattle," and estimates substantial cost savings "if every cyclist were wearing a helmet in King County." § 9.04.010 (A), (B). Further, the use of expansive terms like "any person" (and "every cyclist") "evinces an intention to render the statutory requirements broadly applicable[.]" <u>Williams</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 537. The Court should not apply the *expressio unius* doctrine to subvert the clear intent of the legislation.

Smith also argues that the helmet provision does not apply when bicyclists are riding on sidewalks.⁶ He points to a state statute that defines "roadway" to exclude sidewalks. *See* RCW 46.04.500. But the bicycle helmet requirement is not limited to bicyclists on "roadways"; it also applies on "any right-of-way or publicly owned facilities located in King County." Health Board

⁶ Although the trial court entered no written conclusion about the applicability of the helmet regulations to the sidewalk, the court orally observed, "I have looked at the King County ordinance cited in the briefs. It seems to me it would apply whether you're on the sidewalk or not." RP 127.

Code § 9.01.010. State law defines "sidewalk" as the area between the road margin and the line where the public right-of-way meets abutting property. RCW 35.70.010 ("the term sidewalk as used in this chapter shall be construed to mean and include any and all pedestrian structures or forms of improvement for pedestrians included in the space between the street margin, as defined by a curb or the edge of the traveled road surface, and the line where the public right-of-way meets the abutting property"). Since the sidewalk is part of the public right-of-way, the helmet law applies.

Additionally, the helmet violation was not the only traffic infraction the officer observed. Deputy Callahan testified that Smith was riding after dark without lights or visible reflectors, in violation of RCW 46.61.780.⁷ The failure to display the required lights and reflectors justifies a traffic stop, even when the bicyclist rides on the

⁷ RCW 46.61.780 provides, in relevant part, "Every bicycle when in use during the hours of darkness as defined in RCW 46.37.020 shall be equipped with a lamp on the front which shall emit a white light visible from a distance of at least five hundred feet to the front and with a red reflector on the rear of a type approved by the state patrol which shall be visible from all distances up to six hundred feet to the rear when directly in front of lawful lower beams of head lamps on a motor vehicle."

sidewalk. <u>State v. Rowell</u>, 138 Wn. App. 780, 783-84, 158 P.3d 1248 (2007).⁸

The bicycle-related traffic infractions provided additional justification to support Deputy Callahan's lawful stop of Smith. The trial court properly determined that the firearm subsequently found on his person was admissible.

THE STOP WAS NOT PRETEXTUAL.

Smith contends that any stop justified by the helmet infraction was mere pretext for the officer's real motive, which was to investigate car prowling. He relies on <u>State v. Ladson</u>, 138 Wn.2d 343, 979 P.2d 833 (1999), and the Court of Appeals decision in <u>State v. Arreola</u>, 163 Wn. App. 787, 260 P.3d 985 (2011), <u>rev'd</u>, 86610-4, 2012 WL 6621148 (December 20, 2012), for the proposition that evidence of an officer's improper subjective

⁸ The trial court made no finding as to whether Smith's bike had the appropriate lights and reflectors because "it's admitted by both sides that he wasn't wearing a helmet," and the court concluded that the helmet infraction was a valid basis for the stop. RP 127. The only evidence that the bike had the required lights came from Smith's girlfriend, who testified that Smith had been riding her bicycle, pictures of which were admitted as Pretrial Exhibits 5 through 8. RP 72. Although the court made no findings about the light, it was "not persuaded that the bike shown in the photographs admitted by the defense is the same bike the defendant was riding at the time of the incident." CP 90.

intent will invalidate an otherwise lawful stop. The argument is off the mark.

First, the circumstances of this stop simply do not implicate pretext. "A pretextual traffic stop occurs when a police officer relies on some legal authorization as 'a mere pretext to dispense with [a] warrant when the true reason for the seizure is not exempt from the warrant requirement." <u>Arreola</u>, 86610-4, 2012 WL 6621148 (December 20, 2012) (quoting <u>Ladson</u>, 138 Wn.2d at 358). But here, Deputy Callahan had reasonable and articulable suspicion justifying a <u>Terry</u> stop to investigate car prowling, in addition to the bicycle-related traffic infractions. Thus, the principal reason for the seizure *was* exempt from the warrant requirement. There could be no pretext.

Further, even if it were relevant, <u>Ladson</u> is easily distinguishable. There, it was significant that the gang emphasis officers testified that they did not routinely make traffic stops, but instead used the traffic code to stop people in order to initiate questioning unrelated to driving. 138 Wn.2d at 346. By contrast, Deputy Callahan is a patrol officer tasked with addressing crimes or violations that he witnesses during patrol. RP 12. He commonly "stop[s] and identif[ies] and occasionally even cite[s] bicycle

- 19 -

violations." RP 18. In other words, stopping Smith for bicyclerelated traffic infractions was entirely within Callahan's routine patrol duties and does not indicate pretext.

Finally, Smith can no longer rely on the Court of Appeals decision in <u>Arreola</u>. Though the Court of Appeals held that a traffic stop is pretextual when the officer's primary reason for the stop is to investigate separate criminal activity, the Supreme Court recently rejected that conclusion:

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